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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
WEST PALM BEACH DIVISION

Case No.:

DEFENSE DISTRIBUTED, a Texas corporation;
DD FOUNDATION, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company; and, DEFCAD, INC., a Texas
corporation,

Plaintiffs,
V.

JOHN ELIK, individually; MATTHEW
LAROSIERE, individually; ALEXANDER
HOLLADAY, individually; PETER CELENTANO,
individually; JOSH KIEL STROKE, individually;
and JOHN LETTMAN, individually,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, Defense Distributed; DD Foundation, LLC; and DEFCAD, Inc. (hereafter
“DEFCAD”) sue Defendants, Messrs. John Elik, Matthew Larosiere, Alexander Holladay, Peter
Celentano, Josh Kiel Stroke, and John Lettman, as follows:

Introduction.

Defendants jointly operate a 3D gun file business known as The Gatalog,! through a
website appearing at www.thegatalog.com, as a direct competitor of Plaintiff, DEFCAD.
Defendants conspired to make false statements about DEFCAD, to deter DEFCAD’s customers,

and to steer them to Defendants’ rival business, including that: (1) DEFCAD has been hacked and

L «“A 3D-printed firearm is a firearm that is partially or primarily produced with a 3D
printer.” Wikipedia, (viewed September 24, 2025).
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its customers’ names “dumped”(publicized); (2) DEFCAD’s customer names are public
(“doxxing”); and, (3) DEFCAD hosts its website in Iran. DEFCAD seeks damages pursuant to
civil RICO, the Lanham Act and Florida law. In addition, because Defendants’ false statements
will not stop short of judicial intervention, DEFCAD seeks injunctive relief against Defendants.

Parties, Jurisdiction & Venue.

1. Plaintiff, Defense Distributed, is a Texas corporation with its principal place of
business in Texas.

2. Plaintiff, DEFCAD, Inc., is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business
in Texas.

3. Plaintiff, DD Foundation, LLC, is a Texas limited liability company whose

members reside in Texas.

4. Defendant, Matthew Larosiere, is a citizen and resident of Florida.
5. Defendant, John Elik, is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

6. Defendant, Alexander Holladay, is a citizen and resident of Florida.
7. Defendant, Peter Celentano, is a citizen and resident of New York.
8. Defendant, Josh Kiel Stroke, is a citizen and resident of Arizona.

9. Defendant, John Lettman, is a citizen and resident of Pennsylvania.

10.  The Court has subject matter jurisdiction of the RICO and Lanham Act claims as
federal questions, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and from RICO’s civil damages provisions, 18 U.S.C. §§
1964(c) and 1965(a).

11.  This Court also has diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), and the amount

in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and Plaintiffs (citizens of Texas)
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are completely diverse from each Defendant (citizens of Florida, Illinois, New York, Arizona, and
Pennsylvania).

12.  This Court has supplemental personal jurisdiction over defendants for the Florida
claims because they arise from the same nucleus of facts as the RICO and Lanham Act claims. 28
U.S.C. 81367.

13.  Venue is proper here, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1965(a), because Defendant, Mr.
Larosiere, resides in this District. Jurisdiction and venue are proper as to the other Defendants
because they conspired with Mr. Larosiere to violate RICO, and can thus be served outside this
District pursuant to 81965(b). Moreover, the “ends of justice” support adjudicating all members
of this RICO conspiracy together in this action.

Facts Common to All Counts.

14. Plaintiffs share the income produced by DEFCAD?’s legal file sharing business,
through online sales, mainly generated through their website: www.defcad.com.

15. Defendants are active in the 3D gun market and came together to challenge
DEFCAD?’s position in this growing industry.

16. Defendants began their plot to damage DEFCAD in 2019 when Defendant, Mr.
Elik, reached out to Mr. Cody Wilson, owner and principal of DEFCAD, to collaborate in firearms
software and hardware development.

17. Defendant, Mr. Elik, visited DEFCAD’s business facility in Austin, Texas.

18. DEFCAD and Defendant, Mr. Elik, reached an agreement in 2019, whereby
DEFCAD would pay him a fee for each customer he brought to DEFCAD’s website, which was
then being prepared for launch.

19. In March 2020, DEFCAD launched www.defcad.com.
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20.  After March 2020, DEFCAD made monthly payments to Defendant, Mr. Elik,
pursuant to the agreement until August 2022.

21. At that time, Defendant, Mr. Elik became associated with The Gatalog, and its
affiliated business, MAF Corp., a Florida corporation (“MAF”), which sells merchandise used in
conjunction with The Gatalog’s 3D gun files.

22.  Defendant, Mr. Elik then became hostile and demanded that if DEFCAD did not
remove certain files from its website, Gatalog would spread disinformation about DEFCAD.

23. He followed through on the threat. Thus, in May 2023, by agreement with the other
defendants, his business partners, they began posting a “FEDCAD” meme — a graphic stating,
“FRIENDS DON’T LET FRIENDS USE FEDCAD.”

24.  The ad perniciously tells potential DEFCAD customers that DEFCAD should be
known as “FEDCAD” because its database has been “hacked” and “dumped” multiple times,
implying customers’ identities and other personal information would be known to federal
authorities and anti-gun activists who might harass them. It also directs readers to “just say no” to

FEDCAD and its “affiliate sites,” which include Defense Distributed:
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25. Defendants published and amplified this meme across Reddit, Twitter (X),
Facebook, and other social media forums, always in commercial contexts that directed users to
TheGatalog.com.

26. Defendant Celentano, by agreement with the Co-Defendants, repeatedly posted the

“FEDCAD” meme on Reddit. His posts remain among the top search results for “DEFCAD” on
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Google, where he warned potential customers not to use DEFCAD and directed them instead to
The Gatalog.

217, Defendant Holladay, an affiliate of The Gatalog, embedded the “FEDCAD” meme
in his own business’s “Quick Start Guide” for 3D printing firearms, publishing it on
www.ctrlpew.com, in December 2023. He did so per agreement with the co-defendants.

28. In April 2024, the meme was pinned to the top of the r/fosscad Reddit forum — a
community of over 100,000 people in the 3D gun marketplace — ensuring maximum exposure of
the false message that DEFCAD was unsafe and compromised.

29. Defendant, Josh Stroke, through the persona “Zona”, funded through Larosiere’s
MAF Corp., reposted “FEDCAD” meme across dozens of online channels in 2023 and 2024.

30. In the 3D gun marketplace it is well known that consumers shun publicity and
government scrutiny. Thus, when such allegations are made falsely, they are malicious, i.e.,
seeking to destroy the seller-customer relationship.

31. Defendants targeted the meme at DEFCAD’s partners, including non-parties,
Messrs. Barret Collier and Eric Goldhaber, who ceased working with the company after receiving
the negative information.

32. Defendants’ false allegations of DEFCAD being hacked, its data dumped, and being
hosted in illegal territories like Iran, have damaged DEFCAD, significantly decreasing DEFCAD’s
revenue as a result of the false statements.

33. Moreover, Defendants continued and continue to make the same false allegations

on the internet repeatedly since May 2023.
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34, Each use of the internet to spread damaging disinformation violates the federal wire
fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1343, which prohibits “schemes to defraud” involving interstate wires,
with “wires” including social media posts used in a scheme to defraud.

35.  DEFCAD estimates Plaintiffs have lost at least $1,000,000 in sales as a direct result
of the false statements Defendants have made online, detailed above.

36. DEFCAD has retained the undersigned counsel and agreed to pay it a reasonable
fee to bring this action on its behalf.

COUNT |- CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE RICO

37. Plaintiffs reincorporate Paragraphs 1 to 36 above, as if fully restated herein.

38. Defendants’ scheme to destroy DEFCAD, to which all the Defendants agreed to
undertake, required an ongoing series of wire fraud violations.

39.  The scheme is intended to damage Plaintiffs by taking away customers through
false statements, and Defendants’ wire fraud crimes have done so.

40. Each Defendant is a “person” as defined by 18 U.S.C. §1961(3).

41.  Wire fraud is made a form of “racketeering activity” by RICO as defined by 18
U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B).

42.  The ongoing wire fraud Defendants agreed to commit, and committed, constitutes
a “pattern of racketeering activity” as defined by 18 U.S.C. 8 1961(5).

43.  This is both a “closed” pattern, as it has occurred over a lengthy period, and an
“open” pattern, as it will not cease without judicial intervention.

44, Defendants’ pattern of wire fraud has been committed through MAF, which

Defendant, Mr. Larosiere, owns.
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45.  Atall times, the other Defendants followed Defendant, Mr. Larosiere’s direction in
carrying out their roles in the scheme through this Florida corporation, which is a RICO enterprise
as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4).

46. MAF affects interstate commerce through contracts with customers in various
states to sell gun parts and through its internet activity.

47.  Thus, by agreeing to the scheme to be carried out through the MAF enterprise, each
Defendant conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. §1962(c), which makes it illegal for any person
“employed by or associated with” an enterprise to commit a pattern of racketeering activity through
the enterprise.

48.  Thus, each Defendant has violated 18 U.S.C. 81962(d), which prohibits
conspiracies to violate 1962(c).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request a judgment be entered against Defendants, jointly and
severally, for three times their damages, prejudgment interest, attorneys’ fees, costs, and any other
relief the Court deems proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1964(c), and enter preliminary and permanent
injunctions against Defendants barring them from continuing to make allegations against Plaintiffs
to the effect any of them has been hacked and/or that its customers identities are being made
public, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1964(a).

COUNT 11- VOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT, (FALSE ADVERTISING)

49, Plaintiffs incorporate Paragraphs 1-36 above, as if fully restated herein.

50. Defendants violated the Lanham Act by engaging in false or misleading
representations of fact in commercial advertising and promotion, including but not limited to: (a)
Branding DEFCAD as “FEDCAD” and asserting that DEFCAD’s database had been “hacked and

dumped multiple times”; (b) Falsely claiming that DEFCAD “doxxes” its customers by providing
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personal information to federal authorities and anti-gun activists; (c) Alleging that DEFCAD
colluded with gun-control groups and federal authorities; (d) Disseminating these statements
through the “FEDCAD” meme and related graphics across social media platforms, including
Reddit, Twitter (X), Facebook, and other online forums; and, (e) Publishing the meme in
commercial contexts intended to divert customers from DEFCAD to The Gatalog and related
enterprises.

51.  These statements are false or misleading as to material facts and are likely to
deceive, had the tendency to deceive, or actually deceived consumers, as alleged herein.

52. Defendants made these statements knowingly and with the intent to harm DEFCAD
and divert business to their own competing enterprises, in part, because in the context of this
market for products, the Defendants deception was likely to influence purchasing decisions.

53. Defendants’ false advertising directly and proximately caused actual damages to
Plaintiffs, including lost revenue, lost customers, lost goodwill, and reputational harm.

54, Defendants have been unjustly enriched by profits obtained as a result of their false
advertising.

55. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law, as the false and misleading statements
continue to be disseminated online, causing ongoing harm to DEFCAD’s business and reputation.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment against Defendants for the amount of their
damages, disgorgement of their profits obtained from the violations of the Lanham Act detailed
above, attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1117. Plaintiffs also seek preliminary and
permanent injunctions against Defendants to stop their false advertising pursuant to 15 U.S.C.

§1116.
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COUNT Il = TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS
UNDER FLORIDA LAW (Against Solely the Florida Defendants)

56. Plaintiffs incorporate Paragraphs 1-36 above, as if fully set forth herein.

57. Defendants, Messrs. Larosiere and Holladay, are residents of Florida, and this Court
is directed solely to those to Defendants.

58.  Plaintiffs had advantageous business and contractual relationships with customers,
vendors, and partners, including, but not limited to, customers and potential customers navigating
or seeking to navigate the DEFCAD site, and Messrs. Barret Collier and Eric Goldhaber, who
generated income for DEFCAD.

59. Defendants, Messrs. Larosiere and Holladay, had knowledge of these relationships.
Defendants specifically targeted Plaintiffs’ customers and business partners with the intent of
disrupting and terminating those relationships.

60. Defendants, Messrs. Larosiere and Holladay, without justification or privilege,
intentionally and unjustifiably interfered with these relationships by spreading false statements
about DEFCAD, as described herein.

61.  These Defendants’ interference was calculated to and did in fact induce customers
and partners to stop doing business with Plaintiffs and to divert business to the rival enterprise,
The Gatalog and MAF Corp.

62. As a direct and proximate result of these Defendants’ wrongful interference,
Plaintiffs have suffered damages including lost sales, lost customer goodwill, and reputational
harm in an amount exceeding $1 million.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment against Defendants for compensatory

damages, costs, and any other and further relief the Court deems proper.

10
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COUNT IV -VIOLATION OF FLORIDA’S FALSE ADVERTISING STATUTE,
FLA. STAT. §817.41

63. Plaintiffs incorporate Paragraphs 1-36 above, as if fully set forth herein.

64. Defendants engaged in the dissemination of untrue, deceptive, and misleading
advertisements to the public in Florida and elsewhere, including but not limited to:

a. Advertising that DEFCAD had been hacked and its customer data exposed,;

b. Advertising that DEFCAD was known as “FEDCAD” and was unsafe for
consumers to use; and,

c. Advertising that DEFCAD’s website was hosted in Iran.

65.  These advertisements were false and misleading representations of fact made in
trade and commerce.

66. Defendants are competitors of Plaintiff, and made these advertisements with the
intent to induce consumers to refrain from doing business with Plaintiffs and instead to divert
business to Defendants’ rival enterprise.

67.  Consumers, including Plaintiffs’ customers and partners, were in fact deceived or
likely to be deceived by these advertisements, as shown by the cessation of business by partners
such as Messrs. Collier and Goldhaber.

68.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ false advertising, Plaintiffs have
sustained actual damages, including loss of revenue, loss of goodwill, and reputational harm.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment against Defendants for damages, declaratory
and injunctive relief prohibiting further false advertising, attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Fla.

Stat. 8§ 817.41(6), and any other relief the Court deems proper.
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Dated: September 25, 2025.

TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER LLP
525 Okeechobee Blvd., Suite 900

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Tel. (561) 655-2250

Email: gweiss@taftlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

By: _s/ GREGORY S. WEISS
GREGORY S. WEISS
Florida Bar No. 163430

And

FOSTER PC

Howard Foster

155 N. Wacker Dr., Suite 4250
Chicago, IL 60606

312-726-1600

hfoster@fosterpc.com

(Pro hac vice application forthcoming)
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